Advances in Medical Sciences xxx (2016) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advances in Medical Sciences

Advances in Medical Sciences

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/advms

Review Article

New potential biomarkers of acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity

QI Katarzyna Siemionow^{a,*}, Joanna Teul^a, Paweł Drągowski^a, Jerzy Pałka^b, Wojciech Miltyk^a

^a Department of Pharmaceutical Analysis, Medical University of Bialystok, Kilinskiego 1, 15-089 Bialystok, Poland
^b Department of Medicinal Chemistry, Medical University of Bialystok, ul. Adama Mickiewicza 2D, 15-222 Bialystok, Poland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 September 2015 Accepted 16 May 2016 Available online xxx

Keywords: Paracetamol Hepatotoxicity Biomarkers HMGB-1

ABSTRACT

Acetaminophen (APAP) is one of the most common antipyretic and analgesic drugs. Despite various precautions patients use APAP in amounts exceeding acceptable daily doses. APAP overdosing contributes to APAP intoxication, which leads to acute liver injury or necessity of exigent liver transplantation. Biomarkers that can be helpful in early diagnosis of liver injury during APAP overdosing are studied worldwide. This review presents recent reports on new potential biomarkers and their prospective application in clinical practice.

© 2016 Medical University of Bialystok. Published by Elsevier Urban & Partner Sp. z o.o. All rights reserved.

3

3

4 5

6

Contents

K-18

1.	Introduction	000
2.	Review	000
	2.1. Circulating acylcarnitines	000
	2.2. Liver-specific blood proteins	000
	2.3. Protein adducts	000
	2.4. Mitochondrial DNA, nDNA fragments and glutamate dehydrogenase	000
	2.5. Argininosuccinate synthase	000
	2.6. DNA fragments	000
	2.7. Keratin 18	000
	2.8. Carboxylesterase-1	000
	2.9. High mobility group box 1	000
	2.10. Interleukins	000
	2.11. Circulating microRNA	000
3.	Conclusions	000
	References	000

9

11

12

13

14

10 **1. Introduction**

Acetaminophen (N-acetyl-p-aminophenol, APAP, paracetamol) is one of the most commonly used antipyretic and analgesic drugs. Taking it in therapeutic doses, is harmless, however, APAP overdosing may cause hepatotoxicity. Many pharmaceutical products contain APAP and are available without any prescription.15Their easy availability results in constantly-increasing rate of APAP16poisoning cases. For this reason, the safety of APAP is still widely17discussed.18

APAP has similar properties (analgesic and antipyretic proper-
ties) to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), but it does
not possess any anti-inflammatory activity. Applied in recom-
mended doses, APAP does not cause gastrointestinal side effects,
which is common for NSAIDs. After ingestion, about 90% of APAP is
metabolized in the liver, where it is conjugated with glucuronic20

1896-1126/© 2016 Medical University of Bialystok. Published by Elsevier Urban & Partner Sp. z o.o. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +48 85 748 57 35; fax: +48 85 748 57 65. *E-mail address:* ksiemionow2@student.umb.edu.pl (K. Siemionow).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.advms.2016.05.001

K. Siemionow et al./Advances in Medical Sciences xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

25 acid (50-60%) and sulfuric acid (25-35%). A small amount of this drug (3%) binds to cysteine. The products of these conjugations are pharmacologically inactive and are eliminated by the urinary system. About 5% of APAP is eliminated by the kidneys in an 29 unchanged form. Another 5% of APAP undergoes N-hydroxylation 30 by cytochrome P450 enzymes, producing a toxic metabolite i.e. 31 N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI, N-acetylimidoquinone). 32 In therapeutic APAP doses, reactive NAPQI is sufficiently 33 deactivated by conjugation with sulfhydryl groups of glutathione 34 (GSH). The final product of APAP metabolism is mercapturic acid, 35 which is eliminated with urine. The situation changes if APAP is 36 overdosed. Metabolic reactions cause hepatic GSH depletion and 37 NAPQI binds to various hepatocyte macromolecules such as 38 proteins, lipids and DNA. It leads to metabolic disturbances and 39 cell death. N-acetylcysteine (NAC) restores GSH resources, 40 therefore administration of NAC plays an essential role in medical 41 care of patients with APAP overdose. However, NAC is fully 42 hepatoprotective only when distributed within 8 h after APAP 43 ingestion [1].

44 After APAP overdose, NAPQI reacts with protein sulfhydryl 45 groups forming adducts with them [2]. Protein adducts are formed 46 primarily in mitochondria causing their dysfunction and leading 47 to oxidative stress. It begins from the activation of various MAP 48 kinases [3], which after chain reactions, causes phosphorylation of 49 c-jun-N terminal kinase (P-JNK). P-JNK translocates to the 50 mitochondria which enhances formation of reactive oxygen 51 species, mainly peroxynitrite [4,5]. It leads to the opening of 52 the membrane permeability transition (MPT) pores. Consequent-53 ly, the membrane potential collapses and the ATP synthesis is 54 inhibited. Another consequence of the MPT opening is mitochon-55 drial matrix swelling and the resulting rupture of the outer 56 membrane. The rupturing of the membrane triggers leakage of 57 various intermembrane proteins (for instance endonuclease G) 58 into cytosol. The proteins are transported to the nucleus where 59 they initiate DNA fragmentation [6]. The end result is a hepatocyte 60 necrosis [7].

61 The mitochondrial dysfunction that occurs in liver damage can 62 be assessed trough measuring the mitochondrial matrix enzyme 63 glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) or mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) 64 in patient's serum [8]. Furthermore, protein adducts can also be 65 observed in serum after APAP overdose [9]. Numerous studies on APAP toxicity have been carried out in recent years. Researchers 66 discovered several novel potential diagnostic biomarkers of liver 67 68 necrosis. The markers belong to the cell death markers group and 69 were observed both in mouse and in human serum: cytokeratin-70 18, microRNA-122, high mobility group box 1 protein (HMBG-1), 71 nuclear DNA (nDNA) fragments or argininosuccinate synthetase 72 (ASS) [8,10-12].

73 2. Review

74 2.1. Circulating acylcarnitines

75 Acylcarnitines are conjugates of carnitine and fatty acids. Long-76 chain fatty acids cannot pass through the mitochondrial mem-77 brane, but conjugation with carnitine facilitates their penetration 78 into the mitochondria. The presence of these fatty acids in 79 mitochondria is necessary for β -oxidation. Accumulation of 80 acylcarnitines (palmitoylcarnitine, myristoylcarnitine, oleoylcar-81 nitine and palmitoleoylcarnitine) was observed in mouse serum 82 after APAP treatment and was linked to β -oxidation impairment 83 [13], although it may be a result of NAPQI binding to carnitine-84 acylcarnitine translocase (CACT) or carnitine palmitoyltransferase 85 II (CPT II) - enzymes involved in acylcarnitines metabolism 86 [14]. Disturbances to the activity of these enzymes could initiate 87 the accumulation of acylcarnitines in cytosol. It is also possible that the increased levels of acylcarnitines proceed from β -oxidation in 88 mitochondria and after mitochondrial MPT, the acylcarnitines are 89 released to plasma. On the contrary, McGill et al. [15] did not notice 90 a significant difference of acylcarnitines levels in human serum 91 after APAP overdose, compared to the control group. These findings 92 were explained by the effect of NAC treatment that supports 93 mitochondrial function. Another study of human serum after APAP 94 treatment was performed by Bhattacharyya et al. [16]. They 95 examined serum collected from children with APAP exposure (low 96 dose and overdose) and compared to controls. They measured 97 acylcarnitines regardless of alanine transaminase (ALT) levels and 98 checked the influence of time-dependent NAC treatment. More-99 over, the study group included more patients compared to the 100 McGill et al. [14] research. Bhattacharyya et al. [16] reported that 101 long-chain circulating acylcarnitines levels, especially palmitoyl-102 and oleoyl-carnitines, were significantly elevated in children with 103 APAP exposure compared to controls. Whereas there was no 104 significant difference in acylcarnitines levels between both APAP 105 exposure groups. However, in children with APAP overdose 106 107 receiving delayed NAC treatment (more than 24 h after overdose), acylcarnitines were at a higher level than in early NAC treatment 108 group. These findings confirm that acylcarnitines levels are 109 influenced by the time of NAC treatment after APAP exposure. 110 In summary, the results of the studies discussed above proved that 111 circulating acylcarnitines levels can be evaluated as potential 112 biomarkers of mitochondrial injury and APAP hepatotoxity. Their 113 concentration can be easily measured by applying ultraperfor-114 mance liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight mass 115 spectrometry (UPLC-QTOFMS). 116

117

148

149

150 151

2.2. Liver-specific blood proteins

Hu et al. [17] identified five liver-specific blood proteins as 118 markers of APAP-induced hepatotoxicity in humans using 119 proteomic technologies (label-free antibody microarrays, quanti-120 tative immunoblotting, and targeted iTRAQ mass spectrometry). 121 Betaine-homocysteine S-methyltransferase 1 (BHMT), dihydro-122 pyrimidinase (DPYS), fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase (FAH) and 123 fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase 1 (FBP1) showed higher concentra-124 tions than ALT-which is the gold standard in diagnosing 125 126 hepatotoxicity. 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvatedioxygenase (HPD) concentration was comparable with ALT. S-adenosyl-L-methionine 127 (SAMe) is a precursor of GSH. Its concentration in the liver 128 decreases dramatically in the case of APAP hepatotoxity. Hu et al. 129 [17] linked the decreasing SAMe with the change in the levels of 130 three enzymes involved in metabolism of SAMe (MAT1A, GNMT 131 and BHMT)-they decreased in the liver but were elevated in the 132 blood. It was suggested that these liver-specific blood proteins 133 might be useful in GSH and SAMe levels' assessment and therefore 134 might have prognostic value in hepatotoxicity. Hu et al. [17] also 135 observed interesting changes in the concentration of membrane-136 bound catechol-O-methyltransferase (MB-COMT) in mouse 137 plasma and liver tissue after APAP intoxication. Catechol-O-138 methyltransferase (COMT) is an enzyme that catalyzes the transfer 139 of a methyl group and has two isoforms-soluble and membrane-140 bound. The western blot assay of liver tissue showed that 141 after APAP overdose, the soluble catechol-O-methyltransferase 142 (S-COMT) level decreased whereas MB-COMT increased. It was 143 suggested that there may be a specific mechanism in the liver that 144 allowed the translation of S-COMT into MB-COMT after overdosing 145 APAP. The mechanism of COMT regulation requires further 146 investigation (Fig. 1). 147 02

Another potential new biomarker is the mitochondrial protein, carbomoyl phosphate synthetase 1 (CPS1). This protein level increases faster than aspartate transaminanse (AST) and ALT within the first 3 h after APAP ingestion [18,19]. CYPS1 levels were

26 27 28

K. Siemionow et al./Advances in Medical Sciences xxx (2016) xxx-xxx



Fig. 1. Summary of new potential biomarkers connected with APAP overdosing and suggested method of their detection.

elevated after APAP treatment in mouse and human blood, as wellas in hepatocytes culture medium.

2.4. Mitochondrial DNA, nDNA fragments and glutamate dehydrogenase

154 2.3. Protein adducts

155 APAP forms adducts with hepatocytes proteins. It had been a 156 paradigm that GSH depletion caused increasing levels of NAPQI, 157 simultaneously binding proteins and creating adducts [2]. Recent studies show that the effect was not dependent on doses of APAP 158 159 [20] nor GSH depletion [8]. Evaluation of the proteins, which can 160 bind to APAP, revealed that APAP has high ability to react with mitochondrial proteins [21]. McGill et al. [15] described the APAP-161 162 protein adducts as potential new biomarkers that can be measured in patients' serum or in liver tissues. It was noticed that the protein 163 adducts reach the highest level about 0.5-1 h after administration 164 165 and then the level decreases. Higher doses of APAP could cause a 166 peak of these adducts sooner. In addition, the effect was not 167 dependent on the level of GSH. Protein adducts have a 1-2 days 168 half-life [22] and supposedly are released predominantly from 169 necrotic hepatocytes [7,9,11]. Additionally, it was noticed that 170 adducts appear in plasma even before ALT peak [20]. It was 171 suggested that protein adducts could be more useful for diagnosing APAP overdose than measuring APAP levels. Therefore, it was 172 173 proposed to measure APAP-CYS and ALT levels in patients' serum 174 to diagnose hepatotoxicity after APAP overdosing [22,23]. More-175 over, it may be beneficial to assess other conjugates like APAP-GSH 176 [24]. However, the studies by McGill et al. showed that protein 177 adducts could appear in plasma even without liver injury.

In summary, measurement of various acetaminophen-protein
adduct could be conducted within using high-performance liquid
chromatography with electrochemical detection (HPLC-EC) in both
serum and liver tissues, for instance Heard et al. applied this
method to measure concentration of paracetamol-cysteine
adducts.

In another study, McGill et al. [9] evaluated patients' serum 186 after APAP intoxication by measuring levels of selected parame-187 ters. The real-time PCR was conducted to assess mitochondrial 188 DNA (mtDNA) concentration, whereas the ELISA assay enabled 189 detection of nDNA. The study results showed, not only an 190 increasing level of glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) - the 191 mitochondrial matrix enzyme, but also an increasing level of 192 mtDNA and nDNA fragments, which come from nuclear DNA 193 194 fragmentation by endonucleases [9,25]. As previously mentioned, APAP overdosing leads to the rupturing of mitochondrial 195 membranes and leakage of different proteins, including endonu-196 197 cleases [6].

A fact, supporting the hypothesis that the main mechanism of 198 hepatotoxicity caused by APAP is extensive mitochondrial damage, 199 is the presence of GDH in serum. GDH is a high-molecular-weight 200 enzyme which cannot pass the mitochondrial membranes in 201 physiological conditions [25]. Similar effects of mitochondrial 202 damage were observed in the HepaRG cell line culture after APAP 203 treatment [8]. It is important to note that different drugs, which 204 also cause centrilobular necrosis, such as furosemide, did not 205 reveal mitochondrial damage. Because of these findings McGill 206 et al. [25] suggested measuring mtDNA, nDNA and GDH as a part of 207 a novel biomarkers panel. 208

2.5. Argininosuccinate synthase

Argininosuccinate synthase (ASS) is a mitochondrial enzyme210that catalyzes biosynthesis of argininosuccinate from the citrulline211and the aspartate. It was observed that the ASS level increased212intimately as a consequence of liver injury caused by endotoxin or213APAP intoxication in both, humans and rodents, serum [12,26]. The214

184

185

209

K. Siemionow et al. / Advances in Medical Sciences xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

215 measurement of ASS was performed in the plasma using a 216 sandwich ELISA. However, an increased level of ASS was also 217 noticed in the case of furosemide intake. Therefore, it is not specific 218 only for mitochondrial damage [12].

219 2.6. DNA fragments

As was described in an earlier section, after APAP overdosing endonucleases from mitochondria are transported to the nuclei, where they cause fragmentation of DNA. Nuclear fragments of DNA may be measured via ELISA assay in patients' serum. The method requires application of a secondary antibody against DNA fragments and a primary antibody against histones [9].

226 2.7. Keratin 18

227 One of the filament phosphoglycoproteins are keratins 8 and 18 228 (K8 and K18). Their expression occurs mainly in simple-type 229 epithelia and they play an important role in cell integrity and 230 shape. Ku et al. [27] showed that expression of K18 influenced the 231 APAP-induced hepatotoxicity. It was found that mice with mutated 232 K18 were more susceptible to liver injury compared to a group 233 with normal K18. Ku and Omary [28] noticed that apoptosis mediated by Fas is accompanied by phosphorylation of K18. 234 235 Furthermore, Caulin et al. [29] proved that one of the first events 236 during disturbances of apoptosis is a segmentation of K18 237 mediated by caspases (mainly caspase-3, -7, -9).

238 Shutte et al. [30] presented a distinction between two forms of 239 K18. According to the obtained results, full-length K18 is released 240 from necrotic cell death, whereas fragmented K18 occurs during 241 apoptosis. Both full-length and fragmented keratin concentrations 242 can be measured with ELISA kit in patients' serum [11,30].Cum-243 mings et al. [31] also proposed that K18 (full-length and 244 fragmented) can be a marker for assessing the effectiveness of 245 treatment in patients with APAP intoxication. Another experiment 246 was performed by Antoine et al. [32] who studied mice serum after 247 treatment by various doses of APAP. The levels of K18 as a cleaved 248 form and unmodified form were measured by LC-MS method. In 249 the untreated group the authors could not find neither the 250 fragmented form nor the full-length form. However, in serum from 251 treated mice, both forms of K18 were identified. Furthermore, it 252 was proved that an elevated level of full-length K18 is correlated 253 with an increasing amount of damaged hepatocytes. In another 254 study, Antoine et al. [11] investigated the levels of both forms of 255 K18 in patients' serum and observed a correlation between ALT, 256 prothrombin time and full-length K18 activity. Moreover, the 257 authors found that the elevated full-length K18 levels were related 258 to worse patient prognosis. Strnad et al. [33] studied the influence 259 of genetic predisposition on liver injury development. The study 260 results showed a link between two genes - KRT8 and KRT18 that 261 are involved in keratin expression, and susceptibility to acute liver 262 failure (ALF). It is expected that patients with mutations in these 263 two genes can have a worse course of ALF.

264 2.8. Carboxylesterase-1

265 Another potential new biomarker whose level increases during 266 APAP-induced hepatotoxicity, is a carboxylesterase (CE). It belongs 267 to the family of enzymes that are involved in the hydrolysis of 268 different compounds including drugs and prodrugs. Because of this 269 activity, carboxyloesterases (CES) are classified as phase-I-metab-270 olizing enzymes. Furthermore, the CES are divided into five main 271 groups: CES-1,CES-2, CES-3, CES-4 and CES-5. Expression of CES-1 272 is observed mainly in the liver [34]. It has also been reported that 273 the expression of CES-1 was significantly increased in the HepG2 274 cells after incubation with paracetamol. The assessment of the CES-1 level was conducted using the western blot method [35]. The275main limitation of these studies arises from using the HepG2 cell276line culture. HepG2 cells have extremely low CYP450 enzymes277expression in comparison to human hepatocytes. CYP450 enzymes278are crucial in APAP metabolism, therefore the HepG2 is not a good279model to study APAP toxicity [8]. The assessment of CES-1280expression needs to be validated by studying other cell line types.281

282

296

318

2.9. High mobility group box 1

High mobility group box 1 (HMGB-1) is a nuclear protein with a 283 284 variety of functions. One of its most important features is the control of gene expression through binding to DNA in specific 285 regions. HMGB-1 is secreted mainly by activated macrophages 286 which activation is observed during liver injury [32,36], therefore, 287 HMBG-1 is measured in patients' serum as an inflammatory 288 marker. However, the monocytes recruitment and activation in the 289 recovery phase causes late HMGB-1 increasing in serum. It was 290 291 also proposed to assess the HMGB-1 level as a biomarker of cell 292 necrosis [37], which is possible with using the ELISA kit [11] or western blotting methods [36]. The results of other studies also 293 showed a correlation between the poor course of liver injury after 294 APAP overdose and the increasing level of HMBG-1 [37]. 295

2.10. Interleukins

Increasing levels of different cytokines can be observed during 297 inflammation occurring in the regeneration phase after APAP 298 overdosing. It is probably more important in the induction of 299 hepatotoxicity than by the drug itself. In the APAP-induced liver 300 injury, various damage-associated molecules, such as mitochon-301 drial and nuclear DNA and even nuclear protein, can be observed in 302 extracellular space. These molecules stimulate immune system 303 cells that start releasing a variety of cytokines, such as monocyte 304 chemoattractant protein 1 or IL-6 and IL-8, which can be assessed 305 in patients' serum using ELISA method [38]. An increase of 306 pentraxin 1, which is secreted by immune cells after interaction 307 with certain cytokines, can be also observed during APAP 308 intoxication. Moreover, recent studies showed that the level of 309 pentraxin 3 is correlated with encephalopathy and the hepatocytes 310 death after APAP overdosing. The level of pentraxins in plasma and 311 liver tissue was measured with ELISA [39]. Furthermore, it was 312 proved that a high level of cytokines in patients' serum is 313 correlated with the presence and activation of immune cells in the 314 liver. During the liver injury after APAP intake, a stimulation of 315 neutrophils in serum is connected with their activation in the liver 316 317 [40].

2.11. Circulating microRNA

MicroRNAs are about 21–23 nucleotide-long regulatory RNAs. 319 MicroRNAs are specifically enriched in different tissues, can be 320 released from cells and conjugated with proteins. MicroRNAs 321 stable complexes can be detected in body fluids such as blood or 322 urine. Therefore, microRNAs have been studied as new biomarkers 323 of different pathological states [10,41]. It was observed that after 324 APAP overdosing the levels of microRNA-122 and microRNA-192 325 were elevated. It was suggested that microRNA-122 is liver-326 specific whereas microRNA-192 is kidney-specific [41,42]. A 327 number of studies confirmed that the level of microRNA-122 328 increases in patients with APAP overdose, however, it also 329 increases in other liver injuries, such as viruses infections or 330 hepatic ischemia [43,44]. The increasing level of microRNA-122 in 331 hepatocytes causes down-regulation of target genes and as a result 332 enhances liver regeneration [42]. Most importantly, concentra-333 334 tions of these microRNAs can precede the elevation of ALT. In

addition, after NAC treatment, the microRNAs' levels decrease
much faster than the ALT level. Therefore, microRNAs can be
sensitive biomarkers to monitor patient recovery from APAP
intoxication [44,45].

339 3. Conclusions

APAP is one of the most common antipyretic drugs that can be 340 341 obtained without a prescription. It has been recommended as a safe medicine even for women during pregnancy and children. 342 343 Nevertheless, recent studies showed many disadvantages of this 344 drug including the most serious one - hepatotoxicity, whose 345 pathogenesis is not fully understood. APAP overdosing may even 346 lead to the need for liver transplantation. Investigators continu-347 ously search for new indicators of high specificity to APAP-348 induced liver damage and what can be used in a routine diagnosis. 349 Current research gives a partial understanding of the molecular 350 mechanism of the APAP-induced hepatotoxicity. Potential new 351 biomarkers are proposed and the most promising are those 352 derived from hepatocytes' damage, such as, mRNA-122, HMGB-1 353 or a cleaved form of K-18. Although the described new potential biomarkers have not been applied in clinical practice yet, there is a 354 355 possibility of using them in the future diagnostics. Nevertheless, 356 there are some difficulties with comparing the specificity or 357 sensitivity of the discussed biomarkers, due to their divergent 358 time of appearing in biological samples. The most promising 359 methods, that would help researchers find new biomarkers of 360 liver damage caused by APAP, are recently developed 'omics' 361 techniques.

362 Conflict of interests

363 The authors declare no conflict of interests.

364 Financial disclosure

Joanna Teul acknowledges the financial support from theFoundation for Polish Science (FNP).

References

367

368

369

370

371

373

374 375

376 377

379

380

384

385

386

387

388

389

390 391

392

393

394

395

396

397

398

399

- [1] Wolf SJ, Heard K, Sloan EP, Jagoda AS, Amer Coll Emergency P. Clinical policy: critical issues in the management of patients presenting to the emergency department with acetaminophen overdose. Ann Emerg Med 2007;50(3):292– 313. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2007.06.014</u>.
 - [2] Mitchell JR, Jollow DJ, Potter WZ, Davis DC, Gillette JR, Brodie BB. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic necrosis. 1. Role of drug-metabolism. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1973;187(1):185–94.
- [3] Jaeschke H, Williams CD, Ramachandran A, Bajt ML. Acetaminophen hepatotoxicity and repair: the role of sterile inflammation and innate immunity. Liver Int 2012;32(1):8–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02501.x.</u>
- [4] Hanawa N, Shinohara M, Saberi B, Gaarde WA, Han D, Kaplowitz N. Role of JNK translocation to mitochondria leading to inhibition of mitochondria bioenergetics in acetaminophen-induced liver injury. J Biol Chem 2008;283(20):13565–77. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708916200</u>.
- [5] Saito C, Lemasters JJ, Jaeschke H. c-Jun N-terminal kinase modulates oxidant stress and peroxynitrite formation independent of inducible nitric oxide synthase in acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2010;246(1–2):8–17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2010.04.015</u>.
- [6] Jaeschke H, McGill MR, Ramachandran A. Oxidant stress, mitochondria, and cell death mechanisms in drug-induced liver injury: lessons learned from acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. Drug Metab Rev 2012;44(1):88–106. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.3109/03602532.2011.602688</u>.
- [7] Gujral JS, Knight TR, Farhood A, Bajt ML, Jaeschke H. Mode of cell death after acetaminophen overdose in mice: apoptosis or oncotic necrosis? Toxicol Sci 2002;67(2):322–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.2.322</u>.
- [8] McGill MR, Yan H-M, Ramachandran A, Murray GJ, Rollins DE, Jaeschke H. HepaRG cells: a human model to study mechanisms of acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. Hepatology 2011;53(3):974–82. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.24132</u>.
- [9] McGill MR, Sharpe MR, Williams CD, Taha M, Curry SC, Jaeschke H. The mechanism underlying acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in humans and mice involves mitochondrial damage and nuclear DNA fragmentation. J Clin Investig 2012;122(4):1574–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/jci59755</u>.

- [10] Lewis PJS, Dear J, Platt V, Simpson KJ, Craig DGN, Antoine DJ, et al. Circulating microRNAs as potential markers of human drug-induced liver injury. Hepatology 2011;54(5):1767–76. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.24538</u>.
- [11] Antoine DJ, Jenkins RE, Dear JW, Williams DP, McGill MR, Sharpe MR, et al. Molecular forms of HMGB1 and keratin-18 as mechanistic biomarkers for mode of cell death and prognosis during clinical acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. J Hepatol 2012;56(5):1070–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2012.01.017</u>.
- [12] McGill MR, Cao M, Svetlov A, Sharpe MR, Williams CD, Curry SC, et al. Argininosuccinate synthetase as a plasma biomarker of liver injury after acetaminophen overdose in rodents and humans. Biomarkers 2014;19(3):222–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/1354750x.2014.897757</u>.
- [13] Chen C, Krausz KW, Shah YM, Idle JR, Gonzalez FJ. Serum metabolomics reveals irreversible inhibition of fatty acid beta-oxidation through the suppression of PPAR alpha activation as a contributing mechanism of acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Chem Res Toxicol 2009;22(4):699-707. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1021/tx800464q</u>.
- [14] McGill MR, Li F, Sharpe MR, Williams CD, Curry SC, Ma X, et al. Circulating acylcarnitines as biomarkers of mitochondrial dysfunction after acetaminophen overdose in mice and humans. Arch Toxicol 2014;88(2):391–401. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00204-013-1118-1</u>.
- [15] McGill MR, Jaeschke H. Mechanistic biomarkers in acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity and acute liver failure: from preclinical models to patients. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2014;10(7):1005–17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/</u> 10.1517/17425255.2014.920823.
- [16] Bhattacharyya S, Yan K, Pence L, Simpson PM, Gill P, Letzig LG, et al. Targeted liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry analysis of serum acylcarnitines in acetaminophen toxicity in children. Biomark Med 2014;8(2):147–59. http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/bmm.13.150.
- [17] Hu Z, Lausted C, Yoo H, Yan X, Brightman A, Chen J, et al. Quantitative liverspecific protein fingerprint in blood: a signature for hepatotoxicity. Theranostics 2014;4(2):215–28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7150/thno.7868</u>.
- [18] Weerasinghe SVW, Jang Y-J, Fontana RJ, Ömary MB. Carbamoyl phosphate synthetase-1 is a rapid turnover biomarker in mouse and human acute liver injury. Am J Physiol-Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2014;307(3):G355–64. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00303.2013</u>.
- [19] Brown JM, Kuhlman C, Terneus MV, Labenski MT, Lamyaithong AB, Ball JG, et al. S-adenosyl-t-methionine protection of acetaminophen mediated oxidative stress and identification of hepatic 4-hydroxynonenal protein adducts by mass spectrometry. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2014;281(2):174–84. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2014.08.027</u>.
- [20] Heard KJ, Green JL, James LP, Judge BS, Zolot L, Rhyee S, et al. Acetaminophencysteine adducts during therapeutic dosing and following overdose. BMC Gastroenterol 2011;11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-230x-11-20.
- Gastroenterol 2011;11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-230x-11-20</u>.
 [21] Tirmenstein MA, Nelson SD. Subcellular binding and effects on calcium homeostasis produced by acetaminophen and a nonhepatotoxic regioisomer, 3'-hydroxyacetanilide, in mouse-liver. J Biol Chem 1989;264(17):9814–9.
- [22] James LP, Letzig L, Simpson PM, Capparelli E, Roberts DW, Hinson JA, et al. Pharmacokinetics of acetaminophen-protein adducts in adults with acetaminophen overdose and acute liver failure. Drug Metab Dispos 2009;37(8):1779– 84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/dmd.108.026195.
- [23] McGill MR, Williams CD, Xie Y, Ramachandran A, Jaeschke H. Acetaminopheninduced liver injury in rats and mice: comparison of protein adducts, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress in the mechanism of toxicity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2012;264(3):387–94. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.taap.2012.08.015.</u>
- [24] Gelotte CK, Auiler JF, Lynch JM, Temple AR, Slattery JT. Disposition of acetaminophen at 4, 6, and 8 g/day for 3 days in healthy young adults. Clin Pharmacol Therap 2007;81(6):840–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.clpt.6100121</u>.
- [25] McGill MR, Staggs VS, Sharpe MR, Lee WM, Jaeschke H, Acute Liver Failure Study G. Serum mitochondrial biomarkers and damage-associated molecular patterns are higher in acetaminophen overdose patients with poor outcome. Hepatology 2014;60(4):1336–45. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.27265</u>.
- [26] Svetlov SI, Xiang Y, Oli MW, Foley DP, Huang G, Hayes RL, et al. Identification and preliminary validation of novel biomarkers of acute hepatic ischaemia/reperfusion injury using dual-platform proteomic/degradomic approaches. Biomarkers 2006;11(4):355-69. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13547500600775110</u>.
- [27] Ku NO, Michie SA, Soetikno RM, Resurreccion EZ, Broome RL, Oshima RG, et al. Susceptibility to hepatotoxicity in transgenic mice that express a dominantnegative human keratin 18 mutant. J Clin Investig 1996;98(4):1034–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/jci118864.
- [28] Ku NO, Soetikno RM, Omary MB. Keratin mutation in transgenic mice predisposes to Fas but not TNF-induced apoptosis and massive liver injury. Hepatology 2003;37(5):1006–14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/jhep.2003.50181</u>.
- [29] Caulin C, Salvesen GS, Oshima RG. Caspase cleavage of keratin 18 and reorganization of intermediate filaments during epithelial cell apoptosis. J Cell Biol 1997;138(6):1379–94. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.138.6.1379</u>.
- [30] Schutte B, Henfling M, Kolgen W, Bouman M, Meex S, Leers MPG, et al. Keratin 8/18 breakdown and reorganization during apoptosis. Exp Cell Res 2004;297(1):11–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.02.019</u>.
- [31] Cummings J, Ward TH, Greystoke A, Ranson M, Dive C. Biomarker method validation in anticancer drug development. Br J Pharmacol 2008;153(4):646– 56. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0707441</u>.
- [32] Antoine DJ, Williams DP, Kipar A, Jenkins RE, Regan SL, Sathish JG, et al. Highmobility group box-1 protein and keratin-18, circulating serum proteins informative of acetaminophen-induced necrosis and apoptosis in vivo. Toxicol Sci 2009;112(2):521–31. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfp235</u>.

400

401

402

403

404

405

469

470

471

472 473

474

475

476

477

478

479

480

481

482

483

484

485

6

491

492

493

494

495

496

497

498

499

500

501

502

503

504

505

ARTICLE IN PRESS

K. Siemionow et al./Advances in Medical Sciences xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

- [33] Strnad P, Zhou Q, Hanada S, Lazzeroni LC, Zhong BH, So P, et al. Keratin variants predispose to acute liver failure and adverse outcome: race and ethnic associations. Gastroenterology 2010;139(3). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.007</u>. 828-U175.
 [34] Satoh T. Hosokawa M. Carboxylesterases: structure function and polymor-
 - [34] Satoh T, Hosokawa M. Carboxylesterases: structure, function and polymorphism in mammals. J Pest Sci 2010;35(3):218–28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1584/ ipestics.R10-02</u>.
 - [35] Van Summeren A, Renes J, Bouwman FG, Noben J-P, van Delft JHM, Kleinjans JCS, et al. Proteomics investigations of drug-induced hepatotoxicity in HepG2 cells. Toxicol Sci 2011;120(1):109–22. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfq380</u>.
 - [36] Ilmakunnas M, Tukiainen EM, Rouhiainen A, Rauvala H, Arola J, Nordin A, et al. High mobility group box 1 protein as a marker of hepatocellular injury in human liver transplantation. Liver Transplant 2008;14(10):1517–25. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/lt.21573</u>.
 - [37] Antoine DJ, Dear JW, Lewis PS, Platt V, Coyle J, Masson M, et al. Mechanistic biomarkers provide early and sensitive detection of acetaminophen-induced acute liver injury at first presentation to hospital. Hepatology 2013;58(2):777–87. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.26294</u>.
 - [38] Jaeschke H. Role of inflammation in the mechanism of acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2005;1(3):389–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1517/17425255.1.3.389.
- 506 507
 507
 508
 509
 509
 509
 501
 502
 503
 504
 505
 505
 505
 506
 507
 507
 508
 509
 509
 509
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500
 500</

- [40] Williams CD, Bajt ML, Farhood A, Jaeschke H. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic neutrophil accumulation and inflammatory liver injury in CD18-deficient mice. Liver Int 2010;30(9):1280–92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-3231.2010.02284.x</u>
- [41] Baker LA, Lee KCL, Jimenez CP, Alibhai H, Chang Y-M, Leckie PJ, et al. Circulating microRNAs reveal time course of organ injury in a porcine model of acetaminophen-induced acute liver failure. PLOS ONE 2015;10(5). <u>http://dx.doi.org/</u> 10.1371/journal.pone.0128076.
- [42] John K, Hadem J, Krech T, Wahl K, Manns MP, Dooley S, et al. MicroRNAs play a role in spontaneous recovery from acute liver failure. Hepatology 2014;60(4):1346–55. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.27250</u>.
- [43] Bala S, Petrasek J, Mundkur S, Catalano D, Levin I, Ward J, et al. Circulating microRNAs in exosomes indicate hepatocyte injury and inflammation in alcoholic, drug-induced, and inflammatory liver diseases. Hepatology 2012;56(5):1946–57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.25873.
- [44] Ward J, Kanchagar C, Veksler-Lublinsky I, Lee RC, McGill MR, Jaeschke H, et al. Circulating microRNA profiles in human patients with acetaminophen hepatotoxicity or ischemic hepatitis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014;111(33):12169– 74. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1412608111</u>.
- [45] Kia R. Kelly L, Sison-Young RLC, Zhang F, Pridgeon CS, Heslop JA, et al. MicroRNA-122: a novel hepatocyte-enriched in vitro marker of drug-induced cellular toxicity. Toxicol Sci 2015;144(1):173–85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/</u> toxsci/kfu269.

A A A A